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The Queen Bee mill complex consisted of four structures on a two acre site on the
east bank of the Big Sioux River, just north of the downtown commercial district
of Sioux Falls. Today, only two foundations remain, while the evidence of a
third is a pile of quartzite rubble.

The major structure is the mill. Measuring 80 by 100 (80'1" by 100' 3"), the

mi1l was seven stories in height. Five bays along the gable side and seven

along the axial, the mi1l was built of rubble masonry Sioux quartzite, Presently,
~ the story-and-a-half walls remain. This foundation has been filled in with

some rubble, although concrete pads are still visible. A concrete and brick

foundation for machinery is located in the northeast corner, Metal pipes enter

the structure at three points along the rear wall, and two, brick vaulted channels

with stbne abutments-are built into the hillside along the east wall, These

channels lead to the second foundation, the old elevator. A wall, which is

buried in the hillside emerges on the southwest corner of the building. This

area may have been the channel for the water. Other features which are still

evident are the brick arches over windows as well as cut granite sills,

A second foundation is the grain elevator, located to the east. Recently

the foundation was filled, although photographs reveal the channels in the
foundation floor. This quartzite rubble masonry wall is six feet in height at
the highest point. Two feet thick, the remaining wall measures 80'l" by

45'9",

South of the main structure is the dam area and retaining walls. Two large pipes,
four to five feet in diameter, are visible and lead from the headworks to the
wheel pit in the mill.

The two other structures were a warehouse and cooper shop.

The area has been extensively disturbed and so no archaeological material
remains. The site is being nominated for its historic significance.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Built during a two year period, the Queen Bee Mill is significant in the areas of
commerce, engineering and industry. As the largest mill in South Dakota, the
Queen Bee represents one of the most ambitiaqus industrial enterprises in Sioux
Falls. The size of the operation and its early date of construction add to its .
significance as a bold and overly optimistic project. Today, as part of an
industrial park, it serves as a local landmark of Sioux Falls’ history,

The mi1l was built through the efforts of R, F. Pettigrew, promoter and

United States Senator. At the height of the Dakota Boom in 1878, Pettigrew
believed that the city of Sioux Falls was in need of a major mill. He wrote,

"I remember seeing a string of two thousand teams one behind the other, reaching:
clear beyond the Brandon crossing, waiting to unload, at the little warehouse
which railroad people had constructed. This impressed me very forcibly, and
therefore I took the train and went to St. Paul and told about the wonderful
string of teams and about the wonderful water power here at Sioux Falls," W.

W. Brookings, who owned the land and held the rights to the falls gave his per-
mission to Pettigrew to pursue investors. First, he contacted R, R, Drake,
President of the St. Paul and Sioux City Railroad, and then George Seney,
President of the Metropolitan Bank of New York. Seney, on behalf of the
investment group, purchased the property and the rights to the water power. Con-
struction of the mill was begun under the direction of the Sioux Falls Water
Power Company.

J. W. McKeen of Minneapolis designed the mill, which was constructed between 1879
and 1881. George W, Cooley, a hydralic engineer was assisted by H. W. Stearn, Peter
Paff, William H, Bailey and 0. A, Pray in the design and construction of the Queen
Bee. The existing dam was modified to meet the requirements of the large mill
operation, which had a daily capacity of 1200 barrels. Two miles of elevators,
three of conveyors and eight of spouting were used. The elevator had a 1000 bushel
capacity, while the warehouse was a full four stories, A railroad siding, with

a 22 car capacity, connected the mi1l to the city's five rail lines,

For all its size, the mill never operated at its full capacity, due to insuffi-
cient water power and other problems. It opened in 1881 and was closed by
bankruptcy in 1883, Changing hands several times, the mill never reached the
expectations of the promoters who had stretched the truth about the water power
available from-the Big Sioux.
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As milling techniques changed, the Queen Bee became qutdated, Fianlly, in 1906
the Sioux Falls Light and Power Comapny purchased the Queen Bee prgper%y with

the idea of reopening the mi1l, However, it was sold again in 1907 to the United
Flour Mi1ling company. Changing hands again in 1911, the m{11 passed to the
Quinn-Sheperdson company and again, in 1917,. to the Larrahee Mills Cornoration
the mi1l was eventually converted it to a warehouse. Ben Margulles, an auto-
mobile dealer purchased the bulding in 1937 and was still owner on 5anuany 30,
1956, when a fire destroyed the Queen Bee. The city obtained the property in
the mid 1970s and converted the area into a park.

The Queen Bee dates from the earliest years of speculation, Sioux Falls, it was
firmly believed, would rival Minneapolis and St. Paul as a milling center and
commercial metropolis. However, South Dakota never recovered from the economic
depression of the late 1880s and early 1890s and so monumental structures such as this
remain as eyidence of the easy money and speculator schemes of the Dakota Boom.
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The sites 1ies in Rract 6, Lot 1 of the Equitable Realty Company's Subdivision
of the Plat of Sioux Falls. The lot 1ines on the north and west form the

boundaries of those sides. The southern boundary is a line located two-thirds
of the lot from the north or 195.72 feet from the north edge of the Tot line.

The eastern boundary is formed by the railroad track, which bisects the lot in
a southwest-northeast line.



